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1      JUDGE RILEY:  Pursuant to the direction of the

2 Illinois Commerce Commission, I call Docket 13-0481.

3 This is a complaint by Arun K. Bhattacharya vs. RCN

4 Telecom Services of Illinois, LLC, with regard to

5 service in Chicago, Illinois.

6           And, again, Mr. Bhattacharya -- Am I

7 pronouncing your name right?

8      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  Yes.

9      JUDGE RILEY:  And you are appearing without counsel

10 at this point?

11      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  Yes.

12      JUDGE RILEY:  Okay.  You can obtain counsel anytime

13 you want --

14      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  Okay.

15      JUDGE RILEY:  -- as long as that counsel files an

16 appearance with us; but in doing so, he would have to

17 accept the record as it's developed.  We would not be

18 able to go back and start over again.

19      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  All right.

20      JUDGE RILEY:  And, Mr. Brown, you are in-house

21 counsel for RCN?

22      MR. BROWN:  Correct.

23      JUDGE RILEY:  Would you enter an appearance stating

24 your name and your office address, please?

25      MR. BROWN:  Sure.  Name is Derwin Brown,
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1 D E R W I N, Brown, B R O W N, and I'm senior corporate

2 counsel for RCN, and my address is 650 College Road

3 East, Suite 3100, Princeton, New Jersey 08540.

4      JUDGE RILEY:  Thank you.

5           And, Mr. Bhattacharya, I'm going to begin with

6 you.  Essentially, once I read through your complaint,

7 what you're asking for are damages from RCN under --

8 well, it's 83 Illinois Administrative Code

9 Part 732.30 --

10      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  Yes.

11      JUDGE RILEY:  -- and then the amount you incurred

12 to make calls from a public telephone.  What -- Well,

13 first of all, let's get some of the dates straightened

14 out because in your complaint you go from 2012 to 2013.

15           Did this all occur in 2013, in June of 2013?

16      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  '12.

17      JUDGE RILEY:  2012.  Okay.

18           Then you said RCN disconnected my phone

19 connection from July 12, 2013.

20      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  Oh, there's a mistake.

21      JUDGE RILEY:  That should be 2012?

22      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  2012.

23      JUDGE RILEY:  All right.  So this is all in 2012,

24 all right.

25           And going through all of it, was your phone
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1 reconnected after it was disconnected?

2      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  After six weeks.

3      JUDGE RILEY:  After six weeks.

4           And is that the six weeks that you're talking

5 about of the damages?

6      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  Yes.

7      JUDGE RILEY:  And did RCN -- RCN told you that

8 there was -- it was disconnected because of an outage?

9      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  Yes.

10      JUDGE RILEY:  And you said that there was no

11 outage.

12      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  There's no outage.

13      JUDGE RILEY:  But your phone was out for six weeks.

14      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  Yes.

15      JUDGE RILEY:  One of the things I want to do, can

16 everybody just give me about two minutes because I want

17 to get back to my office and get the rule book.

18      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  Okay.

19      JUDGE RILEY:  I'll be right back.

20           We're off the record.

21                    (Brief pause.)

22      JUDGE RILEY:  Okay.  Let's go back on the record.

23           I went to get -- When I said I was going to go

24 get the rule book, what I did is I've obtained a copy of

25 83 Illinois Administrative Code Part 732, and I believe
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1 that RCN, you may be at a bit of a disadvantage.

2           Have you had a chance to look at this

3 regulation?  Mr. Brown?

4      MR. BROWN:  I believe -- I believe we have.

5      JUDGE RILEY:  Okay.  And it involves customer

6 credits.

7           Mr. Bhattacharya, can you tell -- can you

8 quantify a sum of money that you're -- that you're

9 requesting in your complaint?

10      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  First of all, I made the calls

11 from public telephone for which I incurred this much of

12 expense, this is the actual expenses.

13      JUDGE RILEY:  Okay.  One thing I would want to

14 point out, I know of no statute, rule, or regulation

15 that would allow the Commission to reimburse you for the

16 expenses of a public telephone, and you would have to

17 find some statutory or legal authority if you were to

18 get that -- if you were seeking that money as

19 reimbursement.

20      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  Let me explain to you.

21      JUDGE RILEY:  All right.

22      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  Just like any other utility

23 public -- utility services, RCN is a public utility.

24      JUDGE RILEY:  Right.

25      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  Just like Commonwealth Edison
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1 that provide electricity.  If your electricity out for

2 more than four hours -- at least four hours and you have

3 to throw your food out of the refrigerator, they

4 reimburse you for the loss.  In the same way why this

5 utility cannot be held accountable for the loss for the

6 money I have incurred in making public calls?

7      JUDGE RILEY:  What other costs or what other

8 expenses are you claiming under Part 732.30?

9      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  I'm claiming the cost as per the

10 rules in the Illinois Commerce Commission.

11      JUDGE RILEY:  Okay.  You're going to have to --

12 what I'm saying, you're going to have to specify exactly

13 what damages you sustained under -- that would be

14 reimbursable under Part 732.30.

15      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  The damages I sustained is that

16 going to the public telephone, transportation,

17 inconvenience, daily day and night I couldn't receive

18 calls from overseas, which I get every month three, four

19 times.  Then I could not call for part-time services.

20 Every time I go, I have to find public telephone.  I

21 have to hire -- I have to go public transportation.

22 These are the costs I have incurred.

23      JUDGE RILEY:  Mr. Brown, what is RCN's stance on

24 the complaint?

25      MR. BROWN:  Well, I guess we can go down point by
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1 point, but we don't feel any additional -- I guess our

2 overall stance on the complaint is that we don't feel

3 any additional relief is due to the complainant and we

4 provided the complainant already with a credit of around

5 $64, I think it is.  I can come up with the exact amount

6 in a second, but ...

7           It was actually $64.08 that we've provided as

8 a credit representing the amounts of time that -- that

9 the complainant was out of service.

10           Having said that, of course we would not, you

11 know, want one of our customers to be out of service

12 that long so Ms. McDermott is on the phone to explain if

13 you need the details.  But the bottom line is that we

14 made several attempts during the time that the

15 complainant was out of service to try to fix the service

16 before the service was actually restored and there were

17 problems doing so, not -- certainly not on the fault of

18 RCN so, you know, we think that there are certainly

19 mitigating circumstances or things that the complainant

20 could have done to mitigate the amount of time that he

21 was out of service that were not done in that he had

22 RCN's full cooperation during the time that he was out

23 to try to get his service restored as soon as possible.

24      JUDGE RILEY:  Was the service actually disconnected

25 by RCN or was it the result of a mechanical failure of
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1 some kind?

2      MR. BROWN:  I believe there was an outage in the

3 area.

4      JUDGE RILEY:  And would it have been out for six

5 weeks as he alleges?

6      MR. BROWN:  Yes.  I'm pretty sure that the outage

7 in the area wasn't -- that didn't occur for six weeks,

8 but there was outage in his area and I'm not sure when

9 that particular -- when his area was restored.

10           Do you know that, Yvonne?

11      MS. INGRAM:  No, I don't have that particular

12 information.

13      MR. BROWN:  Okay.

14      JUDGE RILEY:  So is it my understanding that RCN,

15 your position is that you've already credited the

16 complainant for the amount of time that he was out of

17 service and that that's all that -- that's all that's

18 necessary?

19      MR. BROWN:  Yes.

20      JUDGE RILEY:  Okay.  And there will be no -- then

21 RCN is not going to provide any more credits, or ...

22      MR. BROWN:  No.

23      JUDGE RILEY:  And, Mr. Bhattacharya, do you have

24 service now?

25      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  I have disconnected the service
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1 with RCN.

2      JUDGE RILEY:  All right.  Then you're with another

3 phone company obviously now?

4      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  Yes.

5      JUDGE RILEY:  Okay.  Well, it seems to me that

6 we've reached an impasse.  RCN has said that they've

7 credited you all they're going to and you say that's

8 insufficient?

9      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  The credit is not --

10 insufficient because I paid all the money in advance,

11 all the money in advance.  If I'm without service, that

12 credit hasn't done me any favor, number one.  Number

13 two, this is absolutely hundred percent lie.  There are

14 three top lies:  black lies, white lies and rainbow of

15 lies.  What he's speaking, the counsel, is a rainbow of

16 lies.

17      JUDGE RILEY:  I'm sorry.  I don't understand that,

18 the term.

19      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  His rainbow -- rainbow of lies,

20 which is full of lies.  Because I'll prove that.  How I

21 prove that?  When I called on 13th of July that I was

22 out of service in the evening after 5:00 o'clock, they

23 said that there is an outage in the area.  We'll give

24 you call back as soon as the outage problem is solved.

25 I contacted my neighbor, who has also RCN service, his
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1 service was on.  When there's an outage, the outage is

2 gone for the whole area, not only my service.  There's

3 no outage at all, no outage, and the phone -- the outage

4 could not remain for six long weeks, six long weeks,

5 number one.

6           Number two, I sent e-mails repeatedly, five,

7 six e-mails and they remain unresponded.  I can show you

8 one example, you can read it to the counsel here.  It is

9 from RCN.

10      JUDGE RILEY:  So this says that we are sending you

11 this e-mail as a reminder that on July 13, 2012, RCN

12 work order number such and such was scheduled with you

13 and their technician was planning to visit you to

14 resolve an issue with your no dial tone on July 17,

15 2012, between the hours of 11:00 and 2:00.

16           I don't know, what is this indicative of?

17 What does this -- what does this say?  That your service

18 was still out in July --

19      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  July.

20      JUDGE RILEY:  -- is that what you're saying?

21      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  It is still August, and it said

22 that they have scheduled an appointment on July 13th.

23 That is absolutely lie.  Their -- Their counsel -- their

24 counsel and -- Let me show you.  I have all the

25 documents with me.  I'll prove everything by documentary
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1 evidence.  Right here.

2           This is Marie M. Lew from RCN, and she has

3 lied to the federal authorities, letter to the Federal

4 Communication Commission.

5      JUDGE RILEY:  Well, this is a he said/she said

6 because you say --

7      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  It is writing.  It is not he

8 said/she said; it is in writing.

9      JUDGE RILEY:  Mr. Bhattacharya had a trouble call

10 scheduled for July 17 and it was expedited to July 13,

11 2012.  A technician was dispatched on July 13, 2012, but

12 Mr. Bhattacharya canceled the appointment at the door.

13      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  At the door and this letter has

14 been addressed to Federal-State Commission, it is a

15 federal authority.  They have lied it.

16           And how do I prove that they lied it?  There's

17 no service scheduled for 13th.  Number one, I live in

18 public building, there's a 24/7 doorman under there.

19 Everybody entering the building has to enter his name on

20 the register the apartment he's visiting, the purpose of

21 visit.  Nobody came.  July 13 no appointment, no

22 technician came.  July 17 there is an appointment,

23 nobody came.  I was home for the whole day and they're

24 trying to say you that they have made repeated attempts

25 to resolve the problem.  This is absolutely lie.
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1      JUDGE RILEY:  Well, are you saying that they did

2 not tell you that they had expedited the matter to the

3 July 13 from the July 17 date?

4      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  There's no appointment on

5 July 13; this is absolutely lie.  That is what I'm

6 trying to prove it.

7      JUDGE RILEY:  What they're saying is that you were

8 scheduled for the 17th and they moved it up four days.

9      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  No, there's no appointment on

10 July 13th.  There's no appointment July -- I called on

11 July 13.  I called on July 13 at about 5:15, 5:15.  How

12 it is possible for them to schedule an appointment at

13 5:15?  Their service 10:00 to 1:00 and 2:00 to 5:00,

14 that is their appointment schedule.

15      JUDGE RILEY:  Okay.

16      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  And I called on July 13th at

17 5:15 and they're saying they have scheduled an

18 appointment on July 13th?  Is it possible?

19      JUDGE RILEY:  RCN is again at a bit of a

20 disadvantage because they aren't able to look at any of

21 this documentation.  What --

22      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  They have -- They have -- This

23 is --

24      JUDGE RILEY:  Excuse me.

25      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  This is signed -- This is signed
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1 to Federal Communication Commission on my complaint and

2 signed by Marie M. Lew.  This is absolute lie.

3 July 17th?  No technician show up on July 17th.  I made

4 repeated call and Yvonne Ingram, she's never at her

5 desk.  Always leave a message.  Always leave a message

6 and I can prove you.  I can prove you.  I can show her

7 letter.  This will prove it.  I'll prove everything by

8 documentary evidence.  I'm not lying.  Let me prove it

9 to you.  Let me prove it to you.  Give me a second.

10           Here.

11      JUDGE RILEY:  Mr. Brown, what the complainant was

12 referring to was a letter dated September 17 --

13      MR. BROWN:  Mm-hmm.

14      JUDGE RILEY:  -- 2012.  All right.

15      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  This is RCN.  Whenever I call,

16 nobody is in the desk to receive the calls.

17      JUDGE RILEY:  All right.  Again what he's referring

18 to now is a letter dated August 13, 2012, from Yvonne

19 Ingram.  This says, Mr. Bhattacharya, I'm sorry I missed

20 your call and was not able to speak with you concerning

21 the problems you're having with RCN Services, and then

22 it goes on for him to -- you know, gives him a number

23 and a date and, you know, the office hours to call back.

24           And the prior letter I was talking about was

25 that September 17, 2012 letter --
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1      MR. BROWN:  Okay.

2      JUDGE RILEY:  -- that was -- Let me see that again.

3      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  It says this is for the Federal

4 Commission.

5      JUDGE RILEY:  Okay.  It's from RCN signed by

6 Marie M. Lew and the highlighted portion says

7 Mr. Bhattacharya had trouble -- had a trouble call

8 scheduled for July 17 and it was expedited to July 13,

9 2012.  A technician was dispatched on July 13, 2012, but

10 Mr. Bhattacharya canceled the appointment at the door

11 and he's saying that's not true, so ...

12      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  Can they prove it?  Because

13 everyone entering the building, they have to enter their

14 name in the register.  There's no entry -- no such

15 entry.  And how it is humanly possible that they get in

16 July 13?

17      JUDGE RILEY:  Mr. Bhattacharya, even if what you're

18 saying is accurate, what is the remedy?  How does

19 that -- How does that go to the damages that you've

20 suffered or that you've alleged?

21      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  Because I have to run every day,

22 day and night, to find public telephones, pay for the

23 convenience, pay for the charges, wait in the line for

24 public telephone, this is all inconvenience I've

25 suffered.  All this because they have simply credited
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1 back the amount which I already paid?  That's not a

2 solution.

3      JUDGE RILEY:  All right.  Then what it boils down

4 to then is that you want reimbursement for the period of

5 time you say that your phone was out of service --

6      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  Yes.

7      JUDGE RILEY:  -- for public telephone calls and for

8 transportation getting to and from.

9           How far away was the public phone?

10      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  Public phone, I had to go

11 sometimes to Northwestern University.

12      JUDGE RILEY:  To where, Northwestern?

13      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  Northwestern University public

14 library, sometimes DePaul University public telephone.

15 There's nothing near my home and there is CTA station

16 red line train station, they have no phone.  They had

17 phone before but the SBS Communication Services has

18 removed all the phones from train stations.

19      JUDGE RILEY:  And this was a landline, right?

20      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  This is a landline.

21      JUDGE RILEY:  Did you have a cell phone?

22      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  I didn't have a cell phone, no.

23      JUDGE RILEY:  Okay.  Mr. Brown, anything --

24 anything else from RCN?

25      MR. BROWN:  Yes, I guess one of the questions I was
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1 going to ask you whether we're actually getting -- if

2 this is a settlement conference or if we're actually

3 getting into the facts where you're going to make a

4 ruling that's actually dispositive of the case?

5      JUDGE RILEY:  No, no, no.  This is a prehearing

6 conference.  In other words, I can't make the ruling

7 disposing of the case under any circumstances.  That has

8 to go to the Commission.

9      MR. BROWN:  Okay.  So we'll -- in that regard then

10 I'll kind of limit the facts that we have to say because

11 I don't want to, you know, waste any more of your

12 time --

13      JUDGE RILEY:  That's all right.

14      MR. BROWN:  -- or the complainant's time if there's

15 actually going to be a -- what appears to be an imminent

16 hearing on the merits.

17           But, you know, I guess the complainant just

18 showed you two written correspondences where we tried to

19 get in contact with the complainant to let him know what

20 was going on.  That's not even all of the

21 correspondence.  There's other -- There's e-mails and I

22 believe some telephone calls as well so clearly --

23 clearly that wasn't a lie that we tried to get in

24 contact with the complainant when the complainant

25 himself just showed you two letters from us where we
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1 tried to let him know exactly what was going on.

2           So, again, without wasting too much time,

3 there was an outage in the area on 7-13 and that's the

4 reason why that 7-17 trouble ticket was actually

5 canceled, because I believe --

6           Correct me at any time, Yvonne, if I'm wrong.

7           But upon speaking, you know, around the same

8 time that the complainant called in and said he lost

9 dial tone, you know, we got a notice that there was an

10 outage in the area so instead of scheduling his call --

11 his trouble ticket for 7-17, we instead switched it to

12 7-13, which means basically that I can't tell whether or

13 not we actually made a house visit so we'll have more

14 information available when we hear -- when you hear the

15 case on the merits.

16           But the point is, is that on 7-13 we made

17 attempts to fix the outage in the area and then I guess

18 assumed that once we fixed the outage in the area that

19 the complainant's service would also be reconnected

20 along with everyone else's service in the area.  So

21 that's what happened between the 7-13 and the 7-17

22 mix-up, if you will.

23           But having said that, again, you know, there's

24 no contractual basis for the consequential and indirect

25 type of damages that the complainant is seeking and we
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1 did provide the complainant with the pro rata for the

2 amount of time that that complainant was out.  So we

3 feel that, you know, from a contractual and legal

4 standpoint and probably, you know, a practical

5 standpoint as well, that we provided the complainant

6 with all that the complainant is entitled to.

7      JUDGE RILEY:  Mr. Bhattacharya, you are entitled to

8 your day in court.  I can't deny you that, but I have to

9 tell you that if you do go to hearing, to evidentiary

10 hearing, you're going to have to have specific

11 documentation showing what your losses and damages are

12 and, again, I don't know, as we speak right now, whether

13 or not the Commission has the authority to grant you the

14 relief that you're seeking.  I'd have to do the research

15 on that and --

16      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  It is the Commission rule.  The

17 rule says that if it is more than 96 hours, more than

18 120 hours, this was the damages.

19      JUDGE RILEY:  Well, first of all, we've got to

20 determine how -- when that outage occurred and how long

21 it occurred.

22      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  I said there's no outage.  I'll

23 prove that also.  I'll prove that also, there's no

24 outage.

25      JUDGE RILEY:  You're saying that RCN disconnected
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1 your phone?

2      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  Yes, actually RCN disconnected

3 my phone.  I'll prove that also.

4      JUDGE RILEY:  And do you have the specific dates

5 that they did that, they disconnected it from one

6 specific date to --

7      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  They disconnected my phone on

8 the 12th of July.

9      JUDGE RILEY:  And was it ever reconnected?

10      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  No, reconnected on the 25th of

11 August.  I'll prove that also.  They have no defense.

12 I'll prove that also.  They have disconnected my phone.

13 How?  I can tell you right now, but I'll reserve that.

14      JUDGE RILEY:  Okay.  You're saying that they

15 disconnected your phone from June 12th to August 25th --

16      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  July 12th to August 25th they

17 have given the connection when the technician came to my

18 home.

19      JUDGE RILEY:  Okay.  And that was the -- that's the

20 six-week period you're talking about then?

21      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  Six weeks, yes.

22      JUDGE RILEY:  As I said, then you're entitled to

23 your day in court.  If you have -- If you can bring

24 documentation in to substantiate your loss --

25      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  I'm going to show them the two
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1 documentation --

2      JUDGE RILEY:  -- under Part 732- -- under

3 Part 732.30.

4      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  I have already shown you

5 documentation they're lying.

6      JUDGE RILEY:  Okay.  All right.  That's something

7 to be determined, but it's not something we're going to

8 deal with here.

9           Mr. Brown, I guess the next order of business

10 then would be just to set a date for hearing.

11      MR. BROWN:  Yes.

12      JUDGE RILEY:  And we are at September 23 right now.

13           Approximately 30 days out.

14      MR. BROWN:  So around October 23rd?

15      JUDGE RILEY:  23rd or 24th, right.  I have a matter

16 up on the 23rd at 1:00 p.m.

17      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  Can do the morning 23rd.

18      JUDGE RILEY:  Is Thursday, Thursday the 24th?  I

19 have that wide open.

20      MR. BROWN:  Thursday, October 24th.  I think that

21 will -- that should be okay.

22           Would -- I just know of a particular personal

23 circumstance that may come up around that time.  Would

24 Thursday -- would Thursday the 31st work for the

25 Commission?
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1      JUDGE RILEY:  It would work for the -- it would

2 work for me.  How about the --

3      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  No, I'll be out of -- maybe out

4 of state -- out of country.  I don't know.

5      JUDGE RILEY:  All right.

6      MR. BROWN:  Okay.  Well, then I don't want to push

7 it -- I don't want to push it back too far.  If the

8 complainant's going to be out of the country, then it

9 will probably be -- push it into November.  I don't know

10 how the Commission feels about that then.

11      JUDGE RILEY:  Well, that's not a problem with this

12 office.

13           What about October 29?  Would you be in --

14      MR. BROWN:  Tuesday the 29th is fine.

15      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  Yes.

16      JUDGE RILEY:  October 29?  10:00 a.m. or 10:30?

17 10:00 a.m. is usually generally our starting time.

18      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  10:30 is fine.

19      MR. BROWN:  Okay.

20      JUDGE RILEY:  10:30?

21      MR. BROWN:  10:30?

22           That's 10:30 Central Time, Tuesday,

23 October 29th.

24      JUDGE RILEY:  And, again, Mr. Bhattacharya, you as

25 the complainant will be required to go -- proceed first
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1 in this proceeding --

2      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  Okay.

3      JUDGE RILEY:  -- to -- and bring your evidence to

4 substantiate what you feel are the amounts you're

5 entitled to under Part 732.30 or any other -- any other

6 statute, rule, or regulation and --

7      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  I -- I --

8      JUDGE RILEY:  -- and specify as closely as you can

9 what the sums of money are and how they were incurred.

10      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  I already told you, I --

11      JUDGE RILEY:  Well, you're going to have to say it

12 at hearing under oath.

13      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  Okay.  All right.

14      JUDGE RILEY:  It's going to be a formal proceeding,

15 that's what I'm saying.

16      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  Okay.  All right.  Okay.

17      JUDGE RILEY:  I just want to make sure you

18 understand that.

19      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  Yes.

20      JUDGE RILEY:  Anything further from you, Mr. Brown?

21      MR. BROWN:  Nothing further.

22           Thanks, Judge.

23      JUDGE RILEY:  The only thing that concerns me is

24 that this probably isn't going to be a terribly long

25 proceeding on the 29th, they rarely are, but will you
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1 have someone in person appearing?

2      MR. BROWN:  Yes.

3      JUDGE RILEY:  Oh, okay.

4      MR. BROWN:  Yes, we'll have someone in person.  No

5 problem.  Yes, we just wanted to do the phone hearing

6 this time but we will have someone in person --

7      JUDGE RILEY:  Okay.

8      MR. BROWN:  -- on RCN's behalf.

9      JUDGE RILEY:  Okay.  Fine.  Then we'll let it go

10 with that then.  October 29 at 10:30 a.m. we'll convene

11 for an evidentiary hearing, and I will have the clerk's

12 office send out a formal notice advising the parties of

13 the date and time.

14      MR. BROWN:  Okay.

15      JUDGE RILEY:  All right.

16      MR. BHATTACHARYA:  Thank you.

17      JUDGE RILEY:  Thank you very much.

18      MR. BROWN:  All right.  Thank you.

19      JUDGE RILEY:  Take care.

20                    (Which were all the proceedings had

21                     in the above-entitled cause.)

22

23

24

25
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1  STATE OF ILLINOIS   )
                     )  SS.

2  COUNTY OF COOK      )

3

4           Margaret Maggie Orton, being first duly sworn,

5 on oath says that she is a Certified Shorthand Reporter,

6 Registered Professional Reporter, and Notary Public

7 doing business in the City of Chicago, County of Cook

8 and the State of Illinois;

9           That she reported in shorthand the proceedings

10 had at the foregoing hearing;

11           And that the foregoing is a true and correct

12 transcript of her shorthand notes so taken as aforesaid

13 and contains all the proceedings had at the said

14 hearing.

15

16

17                      ________________________________
                     MARGARET MAGGIE ORTON, CSR, RPR

18
CSR No. 084-004046

19

20 SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN TO
before me this 30th day of

21 September, A.D., 2013.

22

23
_______________________________

24         NOTARY PUBLIC

25


